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The complex is organized conventionally enough 
for a mid-sized hospital. It resembles health-care 
facilities built in the same period, like the Hôpital 
Maritime de Lorient (1932-1936), for example.  It 
consists of a three-part structure centering on an  
entrance monumentalized by an arched porch. 
Several outlying buildings stand on the grounds 
within the complex walls. There is a morgue, a 
boiler room with the technical spaces necessary  
for the hospital’s operation (warehouse, garage,  
and laundry), and a laboratory. Soberly construct- 
ed, the complex displays decorative panels typical 
of the Art Deco style.

Three elements depart from this coherence and  
give the structure a Neo-Moorish character. These 
are the portal, the main façade of the central build-
ing, and the morgue. The portal was inspired by 
the monumental gate at Meknès, the Bâb Mansûr 
al-‘Ilj, founded in the 18th century. The entrance to 
the building is located under a large pointed arch, 
flanked by two square bulwarks opening on three 
sides by a horseshoe arch supported by beveled 
pillars. The three-part façade is ornamented with a 
geometric mosaic design bearing a gold inscription 
on a blue background, giving the name of the hos-
pital in French and Arabic. On the central building,  
a flight of stairs (demolished in 2005) led to the  
building whose façade covers two levels with a 
gallery of pointed arches. Lastly, the public part of 
the morgue presents a centered plan opening to 
the exterior with a second gallery of pointed arches, 
and covered by a dome suggesting medieval-area 
bathhouses in North Africa. The same plan would be 
adopted for the oratory built a few years later in the 
Muslim cemetery later located in Bobigny in 1934.

In 2006, the hospital’s arch, twin entrance pavilions, 
façades, the entryway, central building board room 
(Dominique Larrey), as well as the portico and the 
mosque in the Muslim Cemetery were registered in 
the French Supplementary Inventory of Historic  
Monuments.
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Plans to build a Paris hospital to accommodate 
Muslim patients from North Africa date back to the 
mid-1920s. They were part of a service-creation 
program known as “surveillance of and assistance 
to North Africans residing in or visiting Paris.”  This 
program attested to the government’s efforts to  
cater to Muslim men from Morocco, Algeria, and 
Tunisia living in metropolitan France and particu- 
larly in the Paris area.  

The hospital project followed the construction of 
the Grand Mosque of Paris, opened in 1926. The 
idea, suggested by a professor of medicine from the 
medical school in Algiers, quickly gained the sup-
port of the City of Paris. The city council approved 
the project in 1929, and in 1930, the departmental 
council of the Seine followed suit.  

Because the City of Paris Department of Architecture 
and Parks held a monopoly on public construction, 
the contract for the hospital was awarded to Léon 
Azéma, the city’s chief architect. He worked with 
Maurice Mantout, one of the designers of the Grand 
Mosque in Paris. 

Choosing a site proved to be difficult. Several lo-
cations in both Paris and the city’s suburbs 
were considered. Finally, a plot of land in the  
working-class municipality of Bobigny was select-
ed, although town officials and the community as  
a whole were hostile to the project.

Built between 1931 and 1935, the hospital was 
managed by the Seine Department until 1961, 
at which time it was incorporated into the AP-HP 
(Assistance Publique des Hôpitaux de Paris) system. 

In 1979, the name of the hospital was changed from 
Hôpital Franco-Musulman to Hôpital Avicenne, 
commemorating the great 10th-century Persian  
physician and philosopher.


